RECEIVED

Jun 01 2021

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Berkeley County

Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

RICKY MANIGO DAWSON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2019-002107

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

WANDA H. CARTER
Deputy Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

The trial judge erred in denying the pretrial motion to suppress drugs seized after a search of a backpack that belonged to appellant, who was a passenger in a vehicle in this case, because the driver's consent to search was limited in scope and applied not to the search of appellant's backpack that was positioned at appellant's legs and feet as he sat in the passenger's seat in the vehicle, particularly since the driver had no joint possessory interest in or apparent authority over the backpack, and therefore the driver could not consent to the search of appellant's backpack.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Ricky Manigo Dawson was found guilty of trafficking in cocaine, third offense, possession with intent to distribute crack cocaine, third offense, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime per bench trial held at the December 2019 term of the Berkeley County General Sessions Court before Judge G. Thomas Cooper, who sentenced appellant to an aggregate twenty-five year prison term. A pretrial suppression hearing was held on March 14, 2018, before Judge Deadra L. Jefferson at the Berkeley County General Sessions Court in the case. James W. Smiley represented appellant at the trial and pre-trial hearing; and Assistant Solicitors Bart Jackson Stegall and Tyler Jenkins appeared on behalf of the state at trial. Assistant Solicitor Stegall appeared at the pre-trial suppression hearing held in the case.

Appellant appealed his convictions and sentences. This brief follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In Fourth Amendment search and seizure cases, the standard of review is limited to the following:

The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion. An Abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support. When reviewing a Fourth Amendment search and seizure case, an appellate court must affirm if there is any evidence to support the ruling. The appellate court will reverse only when there is clear error.

State v. Wright, 391 S.C. 436, 442, 706 S.E.2d 324, 326 (2011) (citations and internal quotation marks omitted.) This deference does not bar appellate courts from conducting their own review of the record to determine whether the trial judge's decision is supported by the evidence. State v. Tindall, 388 S.C. 518, 521, 698 S.E.2d 203, 205 (2010).

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). On appeal from a suppression hearing, appellate courts are bound by the circuit court's factual findings if any evidence supports the findings. State v. Brockman, 339 S.C. 57, 66, 528 S.E.2d 661, 666 (2000). In an appeal from a motion to suppress evidence based on Fourth Amendment grounds, an appellate court may conduct its own review of the record to determine whether the evidence supports the circuit court's decision. See State v. Khingratsaiphon, 352 S.C. 62, 70, 572 S.E.2d 456, 460 (2002) (stating "Brockman does not hold the appellate court may not conduct its own review of the record to determine whether the trial judge's decision is supported by the evidence.")

In criminal cases, an appellate court sits to review errors of law only. Therefore, an appellate court is bound by the trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). The same standard of review

applies to preliminary factual findings in determining the admissibility of certain evidence in criminal cases. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5-6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). Appellate review in Fourth Amendment search and seizure cases is limited to determining whether any evidence supports the trial court's finding. State v. Butler, 353 S.C. 383, 388, 577 S.E.2d 498, 500-01 (Ct. App. 2003).

Warrantless searches and seizures are reasonable within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment when conducted under the authority of voluntary consent.” Palacio v. State, 333 S.C. 506, 514, 511 S.E.2d 62, 66 (1999) “Undoubtedly, a law enforcement officer may request permission to search at any time. However, when an officer asks for consent to search *after* an unconstitutional detention, the consent procured is per se invalid unless it is both voluntary and not an exploitation of the unlawful detention.” State v. Pichardo, 367 S.C. 84, 105, 623 S.E.2d 840, 851 (Ct. App. 2005) (emphasis in original). Whether consent to a search is voluntary is a question of fact to be determined from the totality of the circumstances. State v. McKnight, 352 S.C. 635, 656, 576 S.E.2d 168, 179 (2003).

ARGUMENT

The trial judge erred in denying the pretrial motion to suppress drugs seized after a search of a backpack that belonged to appellant, who was a passenger in a vehicle in this case, because the driver's consent to search was limited in scope and applied not to the search of appellant's backpack that was positioned at appellant's legs and feet as he sat in the passenger's seat in the vehicle, particularly since the driver had no joint possessory interest in or apparent authority over the backpack, and therefore the driver could not consent to the search of appellant's backpack.

At trial, the summary of the case emanated from the testimony of Officer Alexander Erickson. Officer Erickson stopped a vehicle driven by Sam Carr because of a defective headlight. The stop occurred on the night of October 22, 2015 in Goose Creek, South Carolina. Appellant was riding as a passenger on the passenger side of Sam Carr's vehicle on that night. Officer Erickson testified at the pretrial motion to suppress hearing and stated the following:

- 1.) Officer Erickson approached the driver, Sam Carr and saw a plastic baggy in his lap and believed narcotics were in that baggy and maybe the vehicle R. 11, 1.3-p.13, 1.2
- 2.) Officer Erickson called for back-up and then removed Mr. Carr from the vehicle and asked the driver (Sam Carr) for consent to search the entire vehicle. R. 14, 1.13-24.
- 3.) Officer Erickson had pulled appellant off to the side. Then, Sam Carr gave consent to search. R. 17, 1. 22 – p. 19, 1.2.
- 4.) Officer Erickson searched a black backpack on the passenger floorboard from the car and found a white bag containing a white powder and a bag with a yellow like substance. R. 19, 1.15-p.22, 1.7.
- 5.) Officer Erickson stated that appellant claimed ownership of the backpack and the drugs and gun found inside. R. 22, 1.11-p.23, 1.6.

The state's position was that although appellant's backpack was the result a warrantless search; nonetheless, it was a legal search because it was supported by consent from driver Sam Carr. R. 39, 1.16-17. However, appellant did not consent to a search of his backpack, which was zipped closed, and note that the backpack did not belong to driver Sam Carr. R. 35, 1.1-8; R. 38, 1.11-16.

The objection put forth by the defense was that driver Carr's consent to search the car was limited and did not extend to the search of the backpack that belonged to appellant, who was the passenger and had an expectation of privacy in his backpack. R. 48, 1.2-14. R. 51, 1.17-p.52, 1.16. R. 66, 1.11-p.20, 1.15, R. 72-80. The officer admitted to this based on his answer to a question regarding limited consent as follows:

Defense Counsel: And he (Carr) is telling you you're welcome to search for the car, but it is yours perceptions he is also telling you that he can't speak for [appellant]...maybe not those words, but that what he's implied.

Officer Erickson: Yeah, I'll give you some on that, but, yeah, he's basically in my perception. R. 59, 1.21-p. 60, 1.2.

The trial judge denied the motion to suppress by ruling that driver Carr authorized a general consent to search his vehicle. However, the ruling was in error because this was a limited consent to search similar to the limited search found in State v. Forrester, 343 S.C. 637, 541 S.E.2d 837 (2001), and also because driver Carr had no apparent authority to consent to a search of appellant's backpack and no common authority with appellant over the backpack.

LACK OF APPARENT AUTHORITY

In Illinois v. Rodriguez, 497 U.S. 177 (1990), the Supreme Court held that a third party can only give consent if the third party has common authority over the property or if the third party has apparent authority to consent to search the property. Here, the record was devoid of any evidence, i.e. that the driver had shared or common authority with appellant over the backpack, and the record is devoid of any evidence that the driver had apparent authority to give police consent to search it. Appellant's backpack was on the floor on the passenger side of the car where appellant sat as a passenger. Appellant had dominion over that backpack that was within

his space on the passenger floorboard where he sat in the passenger seat of the car. Also, the nature of a backpack in and of itself is such that it is individualized as belonging to one person in that person's possession. Therefore, there was no community or joint possession that the driver shared with appellant's backpack. Moreover, driver Carr gave permission for a search of the car only, rather than specific items inside the vehicle. Additionally, note that the backpack was not found in a common area of the car such as the console or backseat or trunk. Rather, the backpack was at the feet of the passenger (appellant) on the passenger side at appellant's feet and within his dominion and control.

Under these facts and circumstances, not only did driver Carr not have any apparent authority or common shared authority over the backpack to give consent to a search of the same, but also under the reasonableness test per the totality of the circumstances, the police officer, himself surely had no grounds to believe that driver Carr possessed any apparent authority to consent to the search of appellant's backpack. In other words, it was unreasonable for the officer to have believed that driver Carr could consent to a search of appellant's backpack. It was unreasonable for the officer to have believed that driver Carr had any common interest in a backpack that belonged to a passenger that sat at the passenger side that clearly was under the dominion and control of the passenger.

LIMITED CONSENT

Finally, since the consent given in this case was not a general consent, then the holding in Florida v. Jimeno, 500 U.S. 252 (1991), did not apply in the case. In Jimeno, the Court held that a general consent to search the car included consent to search containers in the car. However, the facts of this case did not line up with Jimeno because driver Carr did not give a general consent. Rather, Carr's search was limited to the car itself and not containers therein. The context of the

dialogue between the Officer and Carr established this as driver Carr stated that “I’m consenting to you...in my area...I’m not going to put [my passenger] in a situation,” i.e. no consent was given to search appellant’s belongings.

An example of this limited consent was highlighted in State v. Forrester, 343 S.C. 637, 541, S.E.2d 837 (2001). In Forrester, the defendant only opened her purse just a little for the officer to peek inside, but the officer grabbed the purse and reached inside the purse after opening it fully and found crack cocaine inside. The Forrester Court held that the Fourth Amendment¹ was violated because the defendant in Forrester merely offered the police officer a visual inspection of the purse under a restricted manner, and thus limited the scope of the consent to search rather than surrendering the purse per a full consent to search of the entire purse. Note that the South Carolina State Constitution under article 1, 10 provides an express protection of the right to privacy.²

Similarly, in the case at bar, the driver gave a limited search of his car only and not a general search to include appellant’s backpack as a passenger in the car. Again, driver Carr’s comments confirmed this limited consent as follows:

Carr: No, listen you can check where I was sitting...I am consenting to you, you asked to do a personal checks of my area...my passenger like I am saying I am not going to put him in a situation like that is what I’m saying

Officer: So if I pull [appellant] out would consent to having me looking throughout the whole car?

Carr: Yes

Officer: And whatever is on [appellant] in on [appellant].

¹ The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable search and seizures shall not be violated.

² The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects against unreasonable searches and seizures and against unreasonable invasions of privacy shall not be violated.

Carr: No, I've already...

Carr: I am talking about my car. That's the only thing I can account for is my car. See page 9 of Order Denying Motion to Suppress.

Clearly, Carr's consent to search the vehicle was not a general search to include passenger appellant's belongings in the car, but rather a limited search of the car and what belonged to him.