**RECEIVED**

**May 13 2021**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Berkeley County  
Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2019-002107

---

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

RICKY MANIGO DAWSON,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING  
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

SCARLETT A. WILSON  
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit

101 Meeting Street, Suite 400  
OT Wallace Building  
Charleston, SC 29401  
(843) 958-1900

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

## ARGUMENT

**Pursuant to the law-of-the-case doctrine, Appellant’s challenge to the propriety of the ruling denying his suppression motion cannot be successful on appeal as a matter of law because Appellant has only raised a challenge to one of the multiple stand-alone grounds upon which the ruling was based, which means the unchallenged ground has now become the law of the case regardless of whether it was right or wrong. Furthermore, notwithstanding the applicability of the law-of-the-case doctrine under the circumstances involved, Appellant’s suppression motion was properly denied because the officer who conducted the search possessed a probable cause basis to believe narcotics were likely present in the vehicle and, therefore, could validly conduct a search of the vehicle—along with the backpack inside of it—pursuant to the automobile exception to the warrant requirement.**

Appellant contends the trial judge reversibly erred by denying the motion to suppress the incriminating evidence discovered through Officer Erickson’s search of his backpack. In support of that contention, Appellant *solely* maintains Carr’s consent was allegedly insufficient to permit a search of the backpack and, based on that and that alone, asserts the search was an unconstitutional one. Importantly though, Appellant’s suppression motion was *not* denied based solely on a finding of valid consent. Instead, that motion was *also* denied based on a finding of probable cause, which—if present—would have independently permitted a search of the vehicle along with all the containers inside of it pursuant to the automobile exception to the warrant requirement regardless of whether the consent obtained had been sufficient. Thus, since the ruling denying the suppression motion was based on multiple independent grounds, Appellant was required to appeal all those grounds in order for his appellate challenge to be conceivably valid, and he has failed to do so. As a result, the ruling denying the suppression motion must be affirmed because the unchallenged portion of it upholding the search based on the automobile exception has now become the law of the case. However, even if the law-of-the-case doctrine was somehow not applicable, Appellant’s suppression motion was nevertheless properly rejected because—under the totality of the circumstances—Officer Erickson possessed a valid probable

cause basis to believe narcotics were likely contained in Carr’s vehicle, and, therefore, the search of that vehicle along with the backpack found inside of it was properly carried out pursuant to the automobile exception. Accordingly, both the suppression hearing judge and the trial judge correctly denied the suppression motion, and there are no legitimate grounds upon which to reverse that ruling on appeal since it was supported by the testimony and evidence presented during the circuit court proceedings. Appellant’s convictions should be affirmed.

**A. Correctness of the Ruling Denying Appellant’s Suppression Motion Pursuant to the Law-of-the-Case Doctrine**

Pursuant to the law-of-the-case doctrine, a ruling becomes the law of the case regardless of whether it is right or wrong when it is not appealed. State v. Black, 400 S.C. 10, 28, 732 S.E.2d 880, 890 (2012). In light of that doctrine, an appellant is necessarily required to appeal *all* the grounds upon which a ruling is based when one is based on multiple independent grounds. State v. Hicks, 387 S.C. 378, 379, 692 S.E.2d 919, 920 (2010). Significantly, “should the appealing party fail to raise all of the grounds upon which a [circuit court judge]’s decision was based, those unappealed findings—whether correct or not—become the law of the case.” Dreher v. S.C. Dep’t of Health & Env’t Control, 412 S.C. 244, 250, 772 S.E.2d 505, 508 (2015). Therefore, when an appellant only *partially* appeals a circuit court judge’s ruling based on more than one ground, the ruling automatically must be affirmed on appeal regardless of its actual correctness. Hicks, 387 S.C. at 379, 692 S.E.2d at 920; see Atl. Coast Builders & Contractors, LLC v. Lewis, 398 S.C. 323, 328, 730 S.E.2d 282, 284 (2012) (“Under the two issue rule, where a decision is based on more than one ground, the appellate court will affirm unless the appellant appeals all grounds because the unappealed ground will become law of the case.” (citation and internal quotations omitted)); Weeks v. McMillan, 291 S.C. 287, 292, 353 S.E.2d 289, 292 (Ct. App. 1987) (“Where a decision is based on alternative grounds, either of which independent of

the other is sufficient to support it, the decision will not be reversed even if one of the grounds is erroneous.”).

In the case sub judice, Appellant contends on appeal the trial judge erred by denying his motion to suppress the drugs discovered during the search of his backpack. (App. Br. pp. 1-9). In raising that particular contention, Appellant asserts the trial judge’s ruling denying the suppression motion was based on a finding of consent. (App. Br. p. 6). Appellant then attacks the propriety of that ruling *exclusively* on the basis the consent provided was purportedly not sufficient to authorize a search of the backpack. (App. Br. p. 1; pp. 5-9).

Importantly though, neither the suppression hearing judge’s nor the trial judge’s ruling denying the suppression motion was based exclusively on a finding of valid consent. Instead, in declining to suppress the incriminating evidence found during the search of the backpack, the suppression hearing judge *also* analyzed the issue of whether the search was independently proper pursuant to the automobile exception, and, after conducting such an analysis, she ultimately found the search was, in fact, proper irrespective of consent due to the existence of probable cause. Likewise, when the challenge to the search was again raised during the trial itself, the trial judge expressly acknowledged the suppression hearing judge’s pre-trial ruling on the suppression motion had been based on multiple grounds—including probable cause—before declining to change or overrule that ruling.

Under such circumstances, the ruling denying Appellant’s suppression motion was unquestionably based on more than just a finding of valid consent for the search. Contrastingly, Appellant’s appellate challenge to that ruling has solely been raised on the issue of the validity of consent alone.

Since the ruling denying the suppression motion was based on more than one stand-alone ground, Appellant was fundamentally required to appeal all the grounds upon which the ruling was based in order for it to be conceivably possible for his appellate challenge to the ruling to be a viable one. See Jones v. Lott, 387 S.C. 339, 346, 692 S.E.2d 900, 903 (2010) (“Under the two issue rule, where a trial court’s decision is based on more than one ground, the appellate court will affirm unless the appellant appeals all grounds because the unappealed ground will become the law of the case.”), abrogated on other grounds by Repko v. County of Georgetown, 424 S.C. 494, 818 S.E.2d 743 (2018). However, Appellant has not done so on appeal and, instead, has only challenged *one* of the multiple discrete grounds upon which the ruling was based. Cf. Hicks, 387 S.C. at 379, 692 S.E.2d at 920 (“In this case, the Court of Appeals erred in addressing the merits of petitioner’s argument regarding the revocation of probation based on [one ground] because the probation revocation judge revoked petitioner’s probation on two additional grounds, *which petitioner did not challenge*.” (emphasis added)). As a result, the unchallenged portion of the ruling upholding the search based on the automobile exception has become the law of the case, and, thus, there can be—and is—no proper basis upon which to reverse the ruling on appeal since at least one of the independent grounds upon which it was based must be treated as correct pursuant to the law-of-the-case doctrine. See Black, 400 S.C. at 28, 732 S.E.2d at 890 (instructing an unappealed ruling—regardless of whether it is right or wrong—becomes the law of the case); cf. Anderson v. Short, 323 S.C. 522, 525, 476 S.E.2d 475, 477 (1996) (“[T]he trial judge ruled against Paul on two grounds. . . . Paul has only challenged the second ground. Because he has not appealed on all grounds, the trial court’s decision is affirmed.”); State v. Galloway, 305 S.C. 258, 263, 407 S.E.2d 662, 665 (Ct. App. 1991) (“[T]he unappealed alternative ruling that the motion was untimely constitutes an independent ground for upholding

the judgment.”). Accordingly, Appellant’s partial appellate challenge to the suppression ruling must be rejected. See Hicks, 387 S.C. at 379, 692 S.E.2d at 920 (“Where the ruling of a trial judge is based on more than one ground, an appellate court must affirm unless the appellant appeals all grounds upon which the ruling was based.”); cf. Sheppard v. State, 357 S.C. 646, 662, 594 S.E.2d 462, 471 (2004) (“[T]he trial court ruled the statement was admissible under Rule 803(3), SCRE. Because [Sheppard] does not appeal the trial court’s ruling that the statement is a Rule 803(3) exception to the hearsay rule, that ruling is the law of the case. Accordingly, the trial court did not err by admitting Lynch’s testimony.” (citation and footnote omitted)). Appellant’s convictions should be affirmed.

**B. Propriety of the Ruling Denying the Suppression Motion on the Merits**

The Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution protects “[t]he right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures.” U.S. Const. amend. IV. Similarly, the South Carolina Constitution provides its own protections to the state’s citizens against unreasonable searches and seizures. State v. Forrester, 343 S.C. 637, 643, 541 S.E.2d 837, 840 (2001); see S.C. Const. art. I, § 10 (“The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects against unreasonable searches and seizures and unreasonable invasions of privacy shall not be violated[.]”). Furthermore, primarily in order to guard against invasive technological advancements, the South Carolina Constitution also includes additional language protecting our citizens from “unreasonable invasions of privacy.” S.C. Const. art. I, § 10; see Forrester, 343 S.C. at 647, 541 S.E.2d at 842 (“[T]he drafters of our state constitution’s right to privacy provision were principally concerned with the emergence of new electronic technologies that increased the government’s ability to conduct searches.”).

Importantly, based on the express language of the United States Constitution and the South Carolina Constitution, only *unreasonable* searches, seizures, and invasions of privacy are constitutionally forbidden. S.C. Const. art. I, § 10; see State v. Foster, 269 S.C. 373, 378, 237 S.E.2d 589, 591 (1977) (“It is only unreasonable searches and seizures that are prohibited.”); see also Maryland v. Buie, 494 U.S. 325, 331 (1990) (“It goes without saying that the Fourth Amendment bars only unreasonable searches and seizures[.]”). As a result, the touchstone of the search and seizure protections afforded by both the federal constitution and state constitution is reasonableness. See Florida v. Jimeno, 500 U.S. 248, 250 (1991) (“The touchstone of the Fourth Amendment is reasonableness.”); see also Heien v. North Carolina, 574 U.S. 54, 60-61 (2014) (“To be reasonable is not to be perfect, and so the Fourth Amendment allows for some mistakes on the part of government officials, giving them ‘fair leeway for enforcing the law in the community’s protection.’ ” (citation omitted)); Illinois v. Rodriguez, 497 U.S. 177, 185 (1990) (“[W]hat is generally demanded of the many factual determinations that must regularly be made by agents of the government . . . is not that they always be correct, but that they always be reasonable.”).

Generally speaking, warrantless searches are considered to be unreasonable per se unless they fall under an exception to the warrant requirement, and any evidence seized as the result of an unreasonable search typically must be excluded from trial. State v. Weaver, 374 S.C. 313, 319, 649 S.E.2d 479, 482 (2007); see State v. Peters, 271 S.C. 498, 501, 248 S.E.2d 475, 476 (1978) (instructing searches conducted without a warrant are per se unreasonable unless an exception to the warrant requirement is applicable). However, “warrantless searches are allowed when the circumstances make it reasonable . . . to dispense with the warrant requirement.” Kentucky v. King, 563 U.S. 452, 462 (2011). Regarding the situations where a warrantless

search is considered to be constitutionally reasonable, South Carolina courts have recognized several exceptions to the warrant requirement, including: (1) the search incident to lawful arrest exception; (2) the hot pursuit exception; (3) the stop and frisk exception; (4) the automobile exception; (5) the plain view exception; (6) the consent exception; (7) the abandonment exception; and (8) the exigent circumstances exception. State v. Brown, 401 S.C. 82, 89, 736 S.E.2d 263, 266 (2012); see State v. Herring, 387 S.C. 201, 209, 692 S.E.2d 490, 494 (2009) (“A fairly perceived need to act on the spot may justify entry and search under the exigent circumstances exception to the warrant requirement.”).

One of the recognized exceptions to the warrant requirement is the consent exception. See Birchfield v. North Dakota, \_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_, 136 S. Ct. 2160, 2185 (2016) (“It is well established that a search is reasonable when the subject consents[.]”); Palacio v. State, 333 S.C. 506, 514, 511 S.E.2d 62, 66 (1999) (“The constitutional immunity from unreasonable searches and seizures may be waived by valid consent.”). Pursuant to the consent exception, an officer can validly conduct a warrantless search of a constitutionally-protected area when he or she receives consent from an individual with authority *or* apparent authority to grant such consent and the consent is provided freely and voluntarily. See State v. Laux, 344 S.C. 374, 377, 544 S.E.2d 276, 277 (2001) (recognizing consent may be valid if the person granting consent reasonably appeared to have the apparent authority to grant the consent); State v. Adams, 377 S.C. 334, 339, 659 S.E.2d 272, 275 (Ct. App. 2008) (holding warrantless searches and seizures are constitutionally permissible when conducted under the authority of voluntary consent). Significantly, when analyzing whether consent was valid, the circumstances must be evaluated objectively to determine whether the facts available to the officer at the time of the search would have led a reasonable person to believe the consenting party had authority to provide consent for

the search conducted. Laux, 344 S.C. at 377, 544 S.E.2d at 277; see Rodriguez, 497 U.S. at 186 (“Whether the basis for . . . authority [to consent] exists is the sort of recurring factual question to which law enforcement officials must be expected to apply their judgment; and all the Fourth Amendment requires is that they answer it reasonably.”); State v. Moultrie, 271 S.C. 526, 529, 248 S.E.2d 486, 488 (1978) (instructing law enforcement officers should be permitted to rely on “the general appearances of the situation” when deciding whether to act upon consent that has been provided).

Likewise, another of the recognized exceptions to the warrant requirement is the automobile exception, which is based on the ready mobility of automobiles coupled with the lessened expectation of privacy in such vehicles. State v. Bailey, 276 S.C. 32, 36, 274 S.E.2d 913, 915 (1981); see State v. Cox, 290 S.C. 489, 491, 351 S.E.2d 570, 571 (1986) (“The two bases for the exception are: (1) the ready mobility of automobiles and the potential that evidence may be lost before a warrant is obtained; and (2) the lessened expectation of privacy in motor vehicles which are subject to governmental regulation.”). Pursuant to the automobile exception, law enforcement officers can conduct a warrantless search of an automobile based solely on the existence of probable cause, which simply means a fair probability contraband or evidence of a crime will be found. State v. Bultron, 318 S.C. 323, 332, 457 S.E.2d 616, 621 (Ct. App. 1995); see Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 213, 238 (1983) (identifying probable cause as “a fair probability that contraband or evidence of a crime will be found”); United States v. Ortiz, 669 F.3d 439, 446 (4th Cir. 2012) (“Probable cause requires an officer to have a ‘*reasonable ground*’ for belief of guilt—‘more than bare suspicion.’ A ‘reasonable ground’ for belief is less demanding than a standard requiring a preponderance of the evidence for the belief.” (citations omitted)); see also Kaley v. United States, 571 U.S. 320, 338 (2014) (recognizing the probable cause standard “is

not a high bar”). Critically, when probable cause exists for a vehicle search, the search can be extended to every part of the vehicle—and *its contents*—potentially containing the search’s object. Bultron, 318 S.C. at 332, 457 S.E.2d at 621; see Wyoming v. Houghton, 526 U.S. 295, 307 (1999) (“We hold that police officers with probable cause to search a car may inspect passengers’ belongings found in the car that are capable of concealing the object of the search.”).

In the case sub judice, Officer Erickson observed a plastic baggie with one end twisted up in plain view on Carr’s lap almost immediately after he approached the vehicle at the outset of the stop, and, based on both his training and his own personal experiences, he recognized such a baggie as one that typically contained narcotics. See United States v. Sandifer, 188 F.3d 992, 993 (8th Cir. 1999) (recognizing “[p]lastic sandwich bags with the corners torn” are “commonly used to distribute crack”); United States v. Fisher, 912 F.2d 728, 731 (4th Cir. 1990) (“Baggies and baggie corners are well-known tools of the narcotics distribution trade.”); State v. Carter, 696 N.W.2d 31, 38 (Iowa 2005) (explaining “courts have found that a plastic baggie is a commonly used container for narcotics and when seen in an unusual setting can tip the scales in favor of probable cause for a search”); People v. Hilt, 698 N.E.2d 233, 235 (Ill. App. Ct. 1998) (concluding an officer’s observation of a torn plastic baggie with a knotted corner in plain view during the course of a traffic stop gave him probable cause to search the vehicle pursuant to the automobile exception). Likewise, when confronted about the baggie, Carr rapidly moved to conceal it, which strongly supported a conclusion the baggie contained something illicit since Carr clearly did not want it to remain in the officer’s view. See Sibron v. New York, 392 U.S. 40, 66 (1968) (explaining the existence of “deliberately furtive actions” in response to the presence of law enforcement can be an important factor in a probable cause analysis); United States v. Jenkins, 680 F.3d 101, 106 (1st Cir. 2012) (recognizing “furtive movements consistent

with hiding contraband” can contribute to the existence of probable cause for a search); State v. Hunt, 514 P.2d 1363, 1365 (Or. Ct. App. 1973) (holding “the combination of a highly suspicious object and a gesture which could reasonably be interpreted as an attempt to remove the object from his view” justified a search and seizure). Furthermore, Carr, who seemed to be nervous, provided a variety of shifting responses about the baggie’s identity, which only further supported a conclusion the baggie contained something unlawful since Carr could not even consistently state what the baggie was despite it having just visibly been in his immediate possession. See United States v. Koshnevis, 979 F.2d 691, 695 (9th Cir. 1992) (finding “nervousness” and “inconsistent statements” contributed to the existence of probable cause for a vehicle search); State v. Bonilla, 429 S.C. 253, 279, 838 S.E.2d 1, 14 (Ct. App. 2019) (finding the fact various inconsistent statements were made contributed to the existence of probable cause for a vehicle search); see also United States v. Johnson, 364 F.3d 1185, 1192 (10th Cir. 2004) (“[N]ervousness, even if it may be a normal reaction, is still among the pertinent factors a reasonable law enforcement officer would analyze in investigating possible crimes, and should not be completely disregarded.”); Milledge v. State, 422 S.C. 366, 378, 811 S.E.2d 796, 803 (2018) (recognizing nervousness is a factor that can contribute to an officer’s suspicions under the totality of the circumstances).

Considering the totality of those circumstances in conjunction with the officer’s training and experience, the factors that were present objectively established a basis to believe there was a fair probability narcotics were present inside Carr’s vehicle. See District of Columbia v. Wesby, \_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_, 138 S. Ct. 577, 588 (2018) (recognizing “the whole is often greater than the sum of its parts—especially when the parts are viewed in isolation” and explaining the probable cause standard—which is not a high bar—“does not require officers to rule out a suspect’s

innocent explanation for suspicious facts”); Ortiz, 669 F.3d at 446 (“[The probable cause] standard is not particularly demanding, and the evidence need not provide the officers with an air-tight case, nor even a case satisfying the preponderance standard. Rather, the probable cause standard is recognized to be a flexible, common sense standard by which reasonable officers can conclude that what they see, in light of their experience, supports an objective belief that contraband is in the vehicle.”); Wortman v. City of Spartanburg, 310 S.C. 1, 4, 425 S.E.2d 18, 20 (1992) (“Probable cause is defined as a good faith belief that a person is guilty of a crime when this belief rests on such grounds as would induce an ordinarily prudent and cautious person, under the circumstances, to believe likewise.”); see also United States v. Cortez, 449 U.S. 411, 418 (1981) (“[A] trained officer draws inferences and makes deductions—inferences and deductions that might well elude an untrained person.”); cf. Texas v. Brown, 460 U.S. 730, 742-743 (1983) (plurality opinion) (concluding an officer’s observation of a knotted balloon during the course of a routine checkpoint stop established a probable cause basis to believe narcotics were present). As a result, Officer Erickson—regardless of what he might have *subjectively* thought—possessed a valid probable cause basis to search anywhere in the vehicle where narcotics might have been hidden, which necessarily included the backpack that was resting in the vehicle’s passenger compartment.<sup>8</sup> See United States v. Ross, 456 U.S. 798, 825 (1982) (“If probable cause justifies the search of a lawfully stopped vehicle, it justifies the search of every part of the vehicle and its contents that may conceal the object of the search.”); see also Brighton City, Utah v. Stuart, 547 U.S. 398, 404 (2006) (“An action is reasonable under the Fourth Amendment, regardless of the individual officer’s state of mind, as long as the circumstances,

---

<sup>8</sup> Although some of his later responses seemed to demonstrate a subjective misunderstanding of the meaning of “probable cause,” Officer Erickson specifically confirmed he “believed” the baggie he had observed during the stop contained narcotics based on the circumstances involved. (R. p. 14).

viewed *objectively*, justify the action. The officer’s subjective motivation is irrelevant.” (citations, brackets, and internal quotations omitted)); Devenpeck v. Alford, 543 U.S. 146, 153 (2004) (“As we have repeatedly explained, the fact that the officer does not have the state of mind which is hypothecated by the reasons which provide the legal justification for the officer’s action does not invalidate the action taken as long as the circumstances, viewed objectively, justify that action.” (citations and internal quotations omitted)); State v. Shelton, 741 So. 2d 473, 477 (Ala. Crim. App. 1999) (instructing “because the test for determining probable cause is an objective and not a subjective test, this court may find probable cause in spite of an officer’s judgment that none exists” (citations, brackets, and internal quotations omitted)).

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